RESNICK & LOUIS, P.C.

PRESCOTT JONES

Nevada Bar No. 11617

pjones@rlattorneys.com

MYRALEIGH A. MCGILL

Nevada Bar No. 14340

malberto@rlattorneys.com

8925 W. Russell Road, Suite 220

Las Vegas, Nevada 89148

Telephone: (702) 997-3800 Facsimile: (702) 997-3800

Attorneys for Appellant

Ton Vinh Lee

Electronically Filed Dec 16 2021 10:40 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

TON VINH LEE,

Appellant,

v.

INGRID PATIN, an individual, and PATIN LAW GROUP, PLLC, a Nevada Professional LLC,

Respondents.

Supreme Court No. 83213 District Court Case No.: A-15-723134-C

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

RESNICK & LOUIS, P.C.

PRESCOTT JONES

I.	JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT		
II.	ROUTING STATEMENT		
III.	ISSUES ON APPEAL		
	A.	WHETHER THIS COURT SHOULD REVERSE THE DISTRICT COURT'S ORDER GRANTING RESPONDENTS' FEES AND COSTS PURSUANT TO NRCP 68 BECAUSE THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT APPLY THE COMPLETE ANALYSIS REQUIRED BY NRCP 68(g) AND NRS § 17.117(12) WHEN FINDING THAT DR. LEE DID NOT OBTAIN A MORE FAVORABLE JUDGMENT THAN RESPONDENTS' OFFERS OF JUDGMENT.	
	В.	WHETHER THIS COURT SHOULD REVERSE THE DISTRICT COURT'S ORDERS GRANTING THE RESPONDENTS' ATTORNEYS' FEES AND COSTS PURSUANT TO NRCP 68 BECAUSE THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT GIVE PROPER CONSIDERATION TO THE BEATTIE FACTORS	
IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
V.	STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS		
VI.	SUM	IMARY OF ARGUEMENT	
VII.	LEG	AL ARGUMENT	
	A.	LEGAL STANDARD FOR AWARDS OF FEES AND COSTS PURSUANT TO OFFERS OF JUDGMENT	
	B.	STANDARD OF REVIEW	
	C.	THIS COURT SHOULD REVERSE THE DISTRICT COURT'S ORDER GRANTING RESPONDENTS' ATTORNEYS' FEES AND COSTS PURSUANT TO NRCP 68 BECAUSE THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT APPLY THE COMPLETE ANALYSIS	

		REQUIRED BY NRCP 68(g) AND NRS § 17.117(12) WHEN
		FINDING THAT DR. LEE DID NOT OBTAIN A MORE
		FAVORABLE JUDGMENT THAN RESPONDENTS' OFFERS OF
		JUDGMENT
	D.	THE COURT SHOULD REVERSE THE DISTRICT COURT'S
		ORDERS GRANTING THE RESPONDENTS' ATTORNEYS'
		FEES AND COSTS PURSUANT TO NRCP 68 BECAUSE THE
		DISTRICT COURT DID NOT GIVE PROPER CONSIDERATION
		TO THE BEATTIE FACTORS
VIII.	CON	CLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

Allianz Ins. Co. v. Gagnon, 109 Nev. 990, 993, 860 P.2d 720, 722-23 (1993)
Armstrong v. Riggi, 92 Nev. 280, 281, 549 P.2d 753, 754 (1976)
<i>Beattie v. Thomas,</i> 99 Nev. 579, 668 P.2d 268 (1983) 7, 8, 9, 10, 16, 17, 18, 20, 21, 22
<i>Bidart v. American Title Ins. Co.</i> , 103 Nev. 175, 734 P.2d 732 (1987)
Contrevo v. Mercury Finance Co. (In re Contrevo), 123 Nev. 20, 22-3, 153 P.3d 652, 653-4 (2007)
Edwards Indus. Inc. v. DTE/BTE, Inc., 112 Nev. 1025, 1035, 923 P.2d 569,575 (1996)
Holiday v. Horst (In re Estate of Ella E. Horst Revocable Trust) 136 Nev. Adv. Rep. 90,478 P.3d 861,864 (2020)
John J. Muije, Ltd. v. North Las Vegas Cab Co., 106 Nev. 664,667,799 P.2d 559, 561 (1990)
LaForge v. State ex rel. Univ. & Cmty. College Sys., 116 Nev. 415, 42-4, 997 P.2d 130, 136 (2000)
Morgan v. Demille, 106 Nev. 671, 674, 799 P.2d 561, 674 (1990)
O'Connell v. Wynn Las Vegas, LLC, 134 Nev. 550, 554, 429 P.3d 664, 668 (2018)

Schouweiier v. Tancey Co.,
101 Nev. 827, 833, 712 P.2d 786, 790 (1985)
Schwartz v. Estate of Greenspun,
110 Nev. 1042, 881 P.2d 638 (1994)
Uniroyal Goodrich Tire Co. v. Mercer,
111 Nev. 318, 890 P.2d 785 (1995)
Wynn v. Smith,
117 Nev. 6, 13, 16 P,3d 424, 428 (2001)
RULES
NRAP 17(a)(11) vii, viii
NRCP 68 vii, viii, 1, 3, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 13, 14, 15, 16
NRS 17.117(12) vii, viii, 7, 8, 9, 11, 13, 14, 15, 16
NRS 18.005

I. <u>JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT</u>

Appellant Dr. Ton Vinh Lee has timely appealed the final order of the District Court on Respondent Ingrid Patin's Motion for Attorneys' Fees, Costs, and Interest and Respondent Patin Law Group, PLLC's Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Interest.

On April 23, 2021, the District Court entered its Decision and Order granting PLG's Motion for Attorneys Fees and Costs pursuant to NRCP 68 as to the \$10,600.00 in fees paid to PLG's attorney, Mr. Doyle, and denying the Motion as to the fees and costs paid to Mr. Echols. [9 AA 1367-1386] The District Court's April 23, 2021, Decision and Order also granted Ms. Patin's Motion for Attorneys Fees, Costs, and Interest pursuant to NRCP 68 as to Ms. Patin's attorney's fees paid to Ms. Morris in the amount of \$100,000.00, as well as costs in the amount of \$10,600.00 pursuant to NRCP 68 and NRS 18.005. [9 AA 1367-1386].

On May 7, 2021, Dr. Lee filed his Motion for Reconsideration of the Court's April 23, 2021 Order. Following oral argument on May 19, 2021, the District Court entered its Order Denying Dr. Lee's Motion for Reconsideration on June 11, 2021.

On July 8, 2021, Dr. Lee timely filed his Notice of Appeal and Case Appeal Statement. [9 AA 1503-1508]

On July 16, 2021, this Court entered its Exemption from Settlement Program and Notice to File Documents for this appeal.

Therefore, this Court has appellate jurisdiction over the issues presented in this appeal.

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

The Supreme Court should retain this appeal. This appeal falls into the categories outlined in NRAP 17(a)(11), which pertains to "[m]atters raising as a principal issue a question of first impression involving . . . common law."

This appeal asks that the Court reverse the District Court's Order granting the Respondents' attorney's fees and costs pursuant to NRCP 68.

The main issue in this appeal asks that the Court determine, as a matter of first impression, the proper application of NRCP 68(g) and NRS § 17.117(12) to offers of judgment that are inclusive of the offeror's recoverable attorneys fees, costs, interest, and other expenses. In addition, this appeal asks that the Court determine, as a matter of first impression, whether an offer of judgment made in a negative amount can constitute a valid offer of judgment.

For these reasons, Dr. Lee asks that the Supreme Court retain this appeal based on NRAP 17(a)(11).

III. <u>ISSUES ON APPEAL</u>

- A. WHETHER THIS COURT SHOULD REVERSE THE DISTRICT COURT'S ORDER GRANTING RESPONDENTS' FEES AND COSTS PURSUANT TO NRCP 68 BECAUSE THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT APPLY THE COMPLETE ANALYSIS REQUIRED BY NRCP 68(g) AND NRS § 17.117(12) WHEN FINDING THAT DR. LEE DID NOT OBTAIN A MORE FAVORABLE JUDGMENT THAN RESPONDENTS' OFFERS OF JUDGMENT
- B. WHETHER THIS COURT SHOULD REVERSE THE DISTRICT COURT'S ORDERS GRANTING THE RESPONDENTS' ATTORNEYS' FEES AND COSTS PURSUANT TO NRCP 68 BECAUSE THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT GIVE PROPER CONSIDERATION TO THE BEATTIE FACTORS

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On appeal, Dr. Lee respectfully asserts that the District Court erred in granting Ms. Patin's Motion for Attorneys' Fees, Costs, and Interest, and PLG's Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs because the District Court did not apply the complete analysis required by NRCP 68(g) in determining that Dr. Lee failed to obtain a more favorable outcome than the Respondents' offers of judgment.

On November 19, 2020, Ms. Patin filed a Motion for Attorneys' Fees, Costs, and Interest pursuant to NRS 18.020(3) and NRCP 68. On November 19, 2020, PLG also filed a Motion for Attorney's Fees and Interest pursuant to NRCP 68.

On December 1, 2020, Dr. Lee filed his Opposition to Ms. Patin's Motion for Attorneys' Fees, Costs, and Interest, as well as his Opposition to PLG's Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Interest [9 AA 1292-1306, 9 AA 1307-1319]. Dr. Lee's Oppositions were filed on the grounds that the Respondents' January 2017 Offers of Judgment were not made in good faith and that a significant portion of the fees claimed by the Respondents were incurred because of several unreasonable dispositive motions filed by the Respondents.

On December 9, 2020, PLG filed its Supplement to its Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Interest to include the declarations and legal billing of its counsel [9 AA 1320-1323].

On February 3, 2021, Dr. Lee filed his Supplemental Opposition to Ms. Patin's Motion for Attorneys' Fees, Costs, and Interest, as well as his Supplemental Opposition to PLG's Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Interest. Dr. Lee's Supplemental Oppositions were filed on the grounds that both Respondents were precluded from an award of fees pursuant to NRCP 68 because the litigation resulted in a more favorable outcome for Dr. Lee than both of the Respondents' Offers of Judgment. [9 AA 1345-1351, 9 AA 1356-1362]

On April 23, 2021, the District Court entered its Decision and Order granting PLG's Motion for Attorneys Fees and Costs pursuant to NRCP 68 as to the \$10,600.00 in fees paid to PLG's attorney, Mr. Doyle, and denying the Motion as to the fees and costs paid to Mr. Echols [9 AA 1367-1386]. The District Court's April 23, 2021, Decision and Order also granted Ms. Patin's Motion for Attorney's Fees, Costs, and Interest pursuant to NRCP 68 as to Ms. Patin's attorney's fees paid to Ms. Morris in the amount of \$100,000.00, as well as costs in the amount of \$10,600.00 pursuant to NRCP 68 and NRS 18.005 [9 AA 1367-1386].

On May 7, 2021, Dr. Lee filed his Motion for Reconsideration of the District Court's April 23, 2021, Decision and Order on an Order Shortening Time on the grounds that the District Court erred in finding that Dr. Lee did not obtain a more favorable outcome than the Respondents' Offers of Judgment because the District

Court did not apply the complete analysis set forth in NRCP 68(g) [9 AA 1387-1392, 9 AA 1393-1403].

On May 17, 2021, Ms. Patin filed her Opposition to Dr. Lee's Motion for Reconsideration, which PLG joined on May 18, 2021.

The District Court denied Dr. Lee's Motion for Reconsideration after oral argument on May 19, 2021 [9 AA 1479]. On June 11, 2021, the District Court entered its Order Denying Dr. Lee's Motion for Reconsideration, finding Dr. Lee's arguments regarding NRCP 68(g) "interesting," but that no reconsideration was warranted [9 AA 1493-1502].

On July 8, 2021, Dr. Lee timely filed his Notice of Appeal and Case Appeal Statement [9 AA 1509-1511].

V. <u>STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS</u>

Appellant Dr. Ton Vinh Lee is a dentist and dental practice owner. Respondent Ingrid Patin is a Nevada attorney and owner of Respondent Patin Law Group, PLLC ("PLG"). Although the relevant facts surrounding this litigation are fairly simple, the procedural history is long due to the eight dispositive motions filed by the Respondents [1 AA 006-017, 1 AA 046-062, 1 AA 129-137, 2 AA 165-182, 2 AA 295-309, 3 AA 390-411, 5 AA 720-726, 6 AA 801-823]. The District Court denied seven of these dispositive motions [1 AA 127-128, 1 AA 147-150, 1 AA 156-159, 2 AA 254-257, 5 AA 710-713, 5 AA 727-730].

On August 17, 2015, Dr. Lee filed his initial Complaint against both Respondents, asserting a single claim of defamation *per se* on the grounds that Respondents published a statement that, in its entirety, was false, defamatory, and imputed to Dr. Lee a lack of fitness in his profession as a dentist and a business owner ("Statement") [1 AA 063-064].

After Dr. Lee filed his initial Complaint, the Respondents filed and joined in a series of dispositive motions dated September 8, 2015, October 16, 2015, January 27, 2016, and May 24, 2016 [1 AA 006-014, 1 AA 046-062, 1 AA 129-137, 2 AA 165-182]. Respondents then filed their Answers and respective Counterclaim and Crossclaim in response to Dr. Lee's April 11, 2016 Second Amended Complaint on October 7, 2016 and October 18, 2016 [1 AA 160-164, 2 AA 258-270, 2 AA 271-288].

After filing a total of four dispositive motions, on January 19, 2017, Ms. Patin served Dr. Lee with an Offer of Judgment in the amount of one thousand dollars (\$1,000.00), "inclusive of all accrued interest, costs, and attorney fees, and any other sums that could be claimed by Defendant, INGRID PATIN, against Plaintiff, TON VINH LEE." [2 AA 289-291] (emphasis added).

On January 26, 2017, PLG served Dr. Lee with an Offer of Judgment in the amount of one thousand dollars (\$1,000.00), also "inclusive of all accrued interest, costs, and attorney fees, and any other sums that could be claimed by

Defendant, PATIN LAW GROUP, against Plaintiff, TON VINH LEE." [2 AA 292-294] (emphasis added).

Respondents then filed additional dispositive motions on February 10, 2017, May 30, 2017, and July 15, 2019, each of which were denied [2 AA 295-309, 3 AA 390-411, 5 AA 720-726, 5 AA 710-713, 5 AA 714-719, 5 AA 727-730]. Due to the pendency and appeals of Respondents' multiple dispositive motions, the Joint Case Conference Report was not filed, and discovery did not open, until October 11, 2019 [5 AA 731-750].

On August 7, 2020, Ms. Patin filed her Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings, or in the Alternative, Motion for Summary Judgment, which PLG also joined on August 10, 2020 [6 AA 801-823, 7 AA 975-976]. Ms. Patin's August 7, 2020, motion was the eighth dispositive motion that she filed since Plaintiff filed this case in August 2015 [1 AA 006-017, 1 AA 046-062, 1 AA 129-137, 2 AA 165-182, 2 AA 295-309, 3 AA 390-411, 5 AA 720-726, 6 AA 801-823]. Following oral argument on September 15, 2020, the District Court granted Ms. Patin's Motion for Summary Judgment. The District Court issued its Order Granting Defendant Patin's Motion for Summary Judgment on October 30, 2020 [7 AA 977-992]. There was no monetary judgment in this matter, making the amount of the final judgment \$0.00.

The Respondents' motions for attorney fees, costs, and interest at issue in this appeal followed.

VI. <u>SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT</u>

This appeal asks the Court to reverse the District Court's orders granting Ms. Patin's attorneys fees and costs pursuant to NRCP 68 and PLG's attorneys fees pursuant to NRCP 68.

First, the District Court did not have discretion to award Respondents' attorney's fees and costs pursuant to NRCP 68 because Dr. Lee obtained a more favorable outcome by rejecting each of the Respondents' offers of judgment. The District Court did not apply the proper analysis required by NRCP 68(g) and NRS 17.117(12) when it granted the Respondents' attorney's fees and costs. Pursuant to NRCP 68(g) and NRS 17.117(12), the District Court was required to determine whether Dr. Lee obtained a more favorable judgment than the Respondents' offer by comparing 1) the outcome of the litigation, with (2) the amount of the offer of judgment, together with the pre-offer costs, expenses, interest, and attorney fees incurred by the offeree, Dr. Lee. Proper application of the analysis required by NRCP 68(g) and NRS 17.117(12) demonstrates that the Respondents' offers of judgment were invalid, or in the alternative, that Dr. Lee obtained a more favorable outcome by rejecting the Respondents' offers of judgment.

Next, the District Court also did not have discretion to award the Respondents' attorney's fees and costs pursuant to NRCP 68 because it did not give proper consideration to all of the factors required prior to exercising discretion in awarding fees and costs pursuant to NRCP 68. These factors include:

- (1) whether the plaintiff's claim was brought in good faith;
- (2) whether the defendant's offer of judgment was reasonable and in good faith in both its timing and amount;
- (3) whether the plaintiff's decision to reject the offer and proceed to trial was grossly unreasonable or in bad faith; and
- (4) whether the fees sought by the offeror are reasonable and justified in amount.

Beattie v. Thomas. 99 Nev. 579, 668 P.2d 268 (1983). Specifically, the District Court did not properly consider whether the Respondents' offers of judgment were reasonable and made in good faith in their timing and amount. First, the District Court made no specific finding as to whether the offers of judgment were made in good faith. Next, the District Court's determination that the offers of judgment were reasonable in timing and amount was not based on a proper application of the analysis required by NRCP 68(g) and NRS § 17.117(12). In addition, the District Court's determination that the offers of judgment were reasonable in timing and amount was also based on a finding that the Respondents' offers of judgment were

signaling their intent to "vigorously litigate the legal issues presented in the defamation case." [9 AA 1367-1386]. This finding contradicts the purpose of offers of judgment, which is to encourage settlement. Morgan v. Demille, 106 Nev. 671, 674, 799 P.2d 561, 674 (1990); Beattie, 99 Nev. at 588, 668 P.2d at 274; John J. Muije, Ltd. v. North Las Vegas Cab Co., 106 Nev. 664, 667, 799 P.2d 559, 561 (1990).

VII. <u>LEGAL ARGUMENT</u>

A. LEGAL STANDARD FOR AWARDS OF FEES AND COSTS PURSUANT TO OFFERS OF JUDGMENT

NRCP 68 governs offers of judgments in Nevada. In 2019, NRCP 68 was codified into statute as NRS § 17.117. 2019 Nev. AB 418.

If an offeree rejects an offer of judgment and fails to obtain a more favorable judgment, the offeree is precluded from recovering any of its post-offer fees, costs, expenses, or interest, and may be required to pay those incurred by the offeror. NRCP 68(f) provides the penalties for rejecting an offer of judgment:

(f) Penalties for Rejection of Offer.

- (1) **In General.** If the offeree rejects an offer and fails to obtain a more favorable judgment:
 - (A) the offeree cannot recover any costs, expenses, or attorney fees and may not recover interest for the period after the service of the offer and before the judgment; and
 - (B) the offeree must pay the offeror's post-offer costs and expenses, including a reasonable sum to cover any expenses incurred by the offeror for each expert witness whose services were reasonably necessary to prepare for and conduct the trial of the case, applicable interest on the judgment from

the time of the offer to the time of entry of the judgment and reasonable attorney fees, if any be allowed, actually incurred by the offeror from the time of the offer. If the offeror's attorney is collecting a contingent fee, the amount of any attorney fees awarded to the party for whom the offer is made must be deducted from that contingent fee.

NRS § 17.117(10) contains substantially the same language.

Despite the language of NRCP 68 and NRS 17.117, Nevada Courts have found that awards of fees and costs pursuant to offers of judgment are still within the discretion of the Court. First, Nevada Courts have discretion to allow attorneys fees when the judgment obtained by the offeree is not more favorable than the offer. Armstrong v. Riggi, 92 Nev. 280, 281, 549 P.2d 753, 754 (1976); Schouweiler v. Yancey Co., 101 Nev. 827, 833, 712 P.2d 786, 790 (1985).

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