### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

TON VINH LEE, AN INDIVIDUAL, Appellant/Cross-Respondent,

VS.

INGRID PATIN, AN INDIVIDUAL, Respondent/Cross-Appellant,

and

PATIN LAW GROUP, PLLC, A NEVADA PROFESSIONAL, PLLC, Respondent. No. 83213

Electronically Filed Apr 19 2022 04:46 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

RESPONDENTS'/ CROSS-APPELLANTS' ANSWERING BRIEF ON APPEAL AND
OPENING BRIEF ON CROSS-APPEAL

Micah S. Echols, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 8437
David P. Snyder, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 15333
Claggett & Sykes Law Firm
4101 Meadows Ln., Ste. 100
Las Vegas, Nevada 89107
Telephone: (702) 655-2346
Facsimile: (702) 655-3763
micah@claggettlaw.com
david@claggettlaw.com

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court acted within its sound discretion in granting Patin's request for attorney fees as to Doyle and in granting Patin's request for attorney fees and costs as to Morris. When Patin served her offers of judgment, NRCP 68 (1998) controlled. Under NRCP 68 (1998), Dr. Lee failed to obtain a more favorable outcome than he would have received by accepting Patin's offers of judgment. The district court was therefore well within its sound discretion in awarding Patin's requested attorney fees and costs, and substantial evidence supports the award.

Dr. Lee's reliance upon NRCP 68 (2019) is misplaced, as amendments to court rules do not retroactively apply. Even if this court were to assume that NRCP 68 (2019) applied, Dr. Lee still failed to obtain a more favorable outcome than he would have received by accepting Patin's offers of judgment. Accordingly, even if this court were to assume

that NRCP 68 (2019) controlled, the district court was well within its sound discretion in awarding Patin's requested attorney fees and costs.

Dr. Lee's reliance upon NRS 17.117 is similarly misplaced. First, Dr. Lee waived any reliance upon NRS 17.117 as he failed to raise it in the district court. Second, the Legislature enacted NRS 17.117 in 2019. This court presumes that statutes prospectively apply, and Dr. Lee makes no argument to the contrary. Accordingly, Dr. Lee's averments regarding NRS 17.117 are not properly before this court.

However, the district court abused its discretion in denying Patin's request for attorney fees as to Echols. In so doing, the district court found the requested fees were unreasonable given that she did not prevail on her appeal. However, this court expressly held in *In re Estate & Living Trust of Rose Miller* that the fee-shifting provisions in NRCP 68 (1998) apply to the judgment that determines the final outcome of the case. Here, Patin ultimately prevailed on her motion for summary judgment. The district court therefore applied an incorrect legal standard, which constitutes an abuse of discretion.

### ARGUMENT

### I. Standard of review

This court generally reviews a district court's award of attorney fees and costs for an abuse of discretion. Logan v. Abe, 131 Nev. 260, 264, 350 P.3d 1139, 1141 (2015) (providing the standard of review for an award of costs); Gunderson v. D.R. Horton, Inc., 130 Nev. 67, 82, 319 P.3d 606, 616 (2014) (providing the standard of review for an award of attorney fees). A district court abuses its discretion when it acts "in clear disregard of the guiding legal principles," Gunderson, 130 Nev. at 80, 319 P.3d at 615, or when there is no evidence supporting the decision, Bower v. Harrah's Laughlin, Inc., 125 Nev. 470, 493, 215 P.3d 709, 726 (2009). However, this court reviews whether the district court applied the correct legal standard in granting or denying an award of attorney fees de novo. Gunderson, 130 Nev. at 82, 319 P.3d at 616. Finally, "[t]his court will affirm a district court's order if the district court reached the correct result, even if for the wrong reason." Saavedra-Sandoval v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 126 Nev. 592, 599, 245 P.3d 1198, 1202 (2010).

II. The district court acted within its sound discretion in awarding attorney fees as to Doyle and in awarding attorney fees and costs as to Morris

## A. NRCP 68 (1998) governs Patin's offers of judgment

Dr. Lee contends that the district court abused its discretion in awarding Patin attorney fees and costs because it did not apply NRCP 68(g) (2019) and NRS 17.117(12) to Patin's request. AOB 10-16. Given that Patin served her offers of judgment in 2017, and given that court rules and statutes prospectively apply, Dr. Lee's contention lacks merit.

This court recognizes that amendments to court rules prospectively apply. See In re Newport Corp. S'holder Litig., No. 80636, 2022 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 240 at \*14-15 (Nev. Mar. 30, 2022) (declining to apply NRCP 16.1 (2019) to a disclosure that plaintiffs filed before that amended court rule became effective); A Cab, LLC, 137 Nev., Adv. Op. 84, 501 P.3d at 969 n.9 (noting that NRCP 23(b) (2019) did not apply to a case that the plaintiffs filed in 2012); Franchise Tax Bd. of Cal. v. Hyatt, No. 80884, 2021 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 298 at \*5-6 (Nev. Apr. 23, 2021) (applying the version of NRCP 68 in effect when the offeror served the offer of judgment); Nev. Pay TV v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct., 102 Nev. 203, 205 n.2, 719 P.2d 797, 798 n.2 (1986) (nothing that NRS 2.120 precludes this court from retroactively applying amendments to court rules),

superseded by rule on other grounds as stated in State, Dep't of Motor Vehicles & Public Safety v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct., 113 Nev. 1338, 948 P.2d 261 (1997); see also NRS 2.120. Here, Patin served her offers of judgment in January 2017. 2 AA 289-94. This court's 2019 amendment to NRCP 68 took effect on March 1, 2019. See In re Creating a Comm. to Update & Revise the Nev. Rules of Civ. Proc., ADKT 522 (Ord. Amending the Rules of Civ. Proc., the Rules of App. Proc., & the Nev. Elec. Filing & Conversion Rules, Dec. 31, 2018).

Dr. Lee made no argument before the district court regarding retroactive application in his oppositions to Patin's motions for attorney fees and costs, see 9 AA 1299-05, 1312-18, in his supplemental oppositions to the same, see id. at 1349-50, 1360-61, during the hearing on the same, see id. at 1451-78, in his motion to reconsider the district court order awarding Patin attorney fees and costs, see id. at 1399-402, and during the hearing on the same, see id. at 1480-92. Dr. Lee therefore waived any argument regarding retroactive application of NRCP 68 (2019). See Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown, 97 Nev. 49, 52, 623 P.2d 981, 983 (1981) (holding that this court deems waived and will not consider an argument that the appellant did not "urge in the trial court"). Even if this court

were to assume that Dr. Lee made an argument regarding retroactive application of NRCP 68 (2019) in the district court, Dr. Lee nonetheless failed to make such an argument in his opening brief. See AOB 10-16. Accordingly, Dr. Lee again waived any argument regarding retroactive application of NRCP 68 (2019). See Powell v. Liberty Mut. Fire Ins. Co., 127 Nev. 156, 161 n.3, 252 P.3d 668, 672 n.3 (2011) (noting that an appellant waives arguments that he or she did not present in his or her opening brief).

Similarly, this court generally presumes that newly enacted or amended statues "apply prospectively unless the Legislature clearly indicated that they should apply retroactively or the Legislature's intent cannot otherwise be met." Valdez v. Emp'rs Ins. Co. of Nev., 123 Nev. 170, 179, 162 P.3d 148, 154 (2007). Such an approach is rooted in "fundamental notions of 'fair notice, reasonable reliance, and settled expectations." Pub. Emps.' Benefits Program v. Las Vegas Metro. Police Dep't, 124 Nev. 138, 155, 179 P.3d 542, 553-54 (2008) (quoting Immigr. & Naturalization Serv. v. St. Cyr, 533 U.S. 289, 321 (2001)). Here, Patin served her offers of judgment in January 2017. 2 AA 289-94. The

Legislature enacted NRS 17.117 in 2019, and that statute became effective on October 1, 2019. See 2019 Nev. Stat., ch. 57, § 1, at 274-75.

Dr. Lee made no argument before the district court regarding the application of NRS 17.117 to Patin's motions for attorney fees and costs nor did he make any argument regarding that statute's retroactive application in his oppositions to Patin's motions for attorney fees and costs, see 9 AA 1299-05, 1312-18, in his supplemental oppositions to the same, see id. at 1349-50, 1360-61, during the hearing on the same, see id. at 1451-78, in his motion to reconsider the district court order awarding Patin attorney fees and costs, see id. at 1399-402, and during the hearing on the same, see id. at 1480-92. Dr. Lee therefore waived any argument regarding NRS 17.117 and its retroactive application. See Old Aztec Mine, Inc., 97 Nev. at 52, 623 P.2d at 983. Even if this court were to assume that Dr. Lee made an argument regarding retroactive application of NRS 17.117 in the district court, Dr. Lee nonetheless failed to make such an argument in his opening brief. See AOB 10-16. Accordingly, Dr. Lee again waived any argument regarding retroactive application of NRS 17.117. See Powell, 127 Nev. at 161 n.3, 252 P.3d at 672 n.3.

Having demonstrated that Dr. Lee waived any reliance upon NRCP 68 (2019) and NRS 17.117, Patin now provides the court rule governing her offers of judgment. NRCP 68 (1998) provided, in relevant part:

- (f) **Penalties for Rejection of Offer.** If the offeree rejects an offer and fails to obtain a more favorable judgment,
- (1) the offeree cannot recover any costs or attorney's fees and shall not recover interest for the period after the service of the offer and before the judgment; and
- (2) the offeree shall pay the offeror's postoffer costs, applicable interest on the judgment from the time of the offer to the time of entry of the judgment and reasonable attorney's fees, if any allowed, actually incurred by the offeror from the time of the offer. If the offeror's attorney is collecting a contingent fee, the amount of any attorney's fees awarded to the party for whom the offer is made must be deducted from that contingent fee.
- (g) **How Costs Are Considered.** To invoke the penalties of this rule, the court must determine if the offeree failed to obtain a more favorable judgment. Where the offer provided that costs would be added by the court, the court must compare the amount of the offer with the principal amount of the judgment, without inclusion of costs. Where a defendant made an offer in a set amount which precluded a separate award of costs, the court must compare the amount of the offer together with the offeree's pre-offer taxable costs with the principal amount of the judgment.

## **B.** Dr. Lee fails to cogently argue his negative offer theory

Dr. Lee contends that Patin's offers of judgment were not valid offers because her offer to settle the instant matter for \$2,000 was less than Dr. Lee's accrued attorney fees of \$20,000. AOB 14. First, Patin notes that NRCP 68(g) (1998) does not contemplate attorney fees in considering costs. The record before this court demonstrates that Dr. Lee did not argue before the district court that his pre-offer taxable costs exceeded Patin's offers of judgment. See 9 AA 1299-05, 1312-18, 1349-50, 1360-61, 1451-78, 1399-402, 1480-92. Nor does he make such an argument in his opening brief. See AOB 14. Accordingly, Dr. Lee waived any argument regarding the same. See Powell, 127 Nev. at 161 n.3, 252 P.3d at 672 n.3; Old Aztec Mine, Inc., 97 Nev. at 52, 623 P.2d at 983.

Even if this court were to assume that Dr. Lee made such an argument, the record before this court demonstrates that Dr. Lee did not provide any evidence regarding his pre-offer taxable costs to the district court. Indeed, Dr. Lee only proffered one declaration, which he attached to his supplemental oppositions to both of Patin's motions for attorney fees and costs. See 9 AA 1347-48, 1358-59. The declaration makes no mention of any pre-offer taxable costs. See id. This court recognizes that "appellants are responsible for making an adequate appellate record."

Cuzze v. Univ. & Cmty. Coll. Sys., 123 Nev. 598, 603, 172 P.3d 131, 135 (2007); see also NRAP 30(b)(3) (providing that an appellant's appendix must include any portion of the record that is necessary for this court's determination of the issues on appeal). Given that Dr. Lee failed to proffer any evidence regarding his pre-offer taxable costs, this court "necessarily presume[s]" that the missing evidence supported the district court's decision. Cuzze, 123 Nev. at 603, 172 P.3d at 135.

Even if this court were to assume that he did not waive any arguments regarding costs, and even if this court were to assume that he proffered evidence of the same, Dr. Lee nonetheless fails to cogently argue his negative offer theory. Indeed, Dr. Lee proffers a mere two sentences in support of this appellate contention, suggesting that, "because the amounts [of] [Patin's] offers of judgment were in the negative, they were invalid and improper. An offer of judgment in a negative amount cannot constitute a valid offer because it is not an offer at all." AOB 14. Dr. Lee cited no caselaw from any jurisdiction that supports this contention.<sup>2</sup> See id. Dr. Lee also did not cite to any

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Dr. Lee offers *Edwards Industries, Inc. v. DTE/BTE, Inc.*, 112 Nev. 1025, 923 P.2d 569 (1996). There, this court held that an unapportioned joint offer of judgment was improper under the then-

language in the controlling court rule or any drafter's notes regarding the same in support of this contention. See id. This court has repeatedly stated that it expects counsel to pursue appellate relief "with high standards of diligence, professionalism, and competence." Miller v. Wilfong, 121 Nev. 619, 625, 119 P.3d 727, 731 (2005) (quoting Barry v. Lindner, 119 Nev. 661, 671-72, 81 P.3d 537, 543-44 (2003)). In failing to cite any authority or engage in any meaningful attempt to analyze the plain language of NRCP 68 or its drafter's notes, Dr. Lee has submitted a deficient contention that lacks any cogent basis. See Edwards v. Emperor's Garden Rest., 122 Nev. 317, 330 n.38, 130 P.3d 1280, 1288 n.38 (2006). This court need not consider this claim. See id.

C. Dr. Lee did not obtain a more favorable judgment than Patin's offers of judgment

Here, Patin served two offers of judgment, offering to pay Dr. Lee a total of \$2,000 "inclusive of all accrued interest, costs, and attorney fees, and any other sums that could be claimed by [Patin] against [Dr. Lee]" to settle the instant matter. 2 AA 289-94. Dr. Lee rejected both

controlling version of NRCP 68. *Id.* at 1034, 923 P.2d at 575. Accordingly, *Edwards Industries*, *Inc.* is factually inapposite, and Dr. Lee's reliance on the same lacks merit.

offers. 9 AA 1433. The district court ultimately granted summary judgment in Patin's favor. 7 AA 979-83. The record before this court does not contain any evidence regarding Dr. Lee's pre-offer taxable costs. See 9 AA 1347-48, 1358-59. Accordingly, Dr. Lee could have settled the instant matter and received \$2,000. He rejected such an offer and ultimately lost his defamation lawsuit on summary judgment, receiving no damages whatsoever. He clearly failed to obtain a better judgment than what Patin offered under NRCP 68(f) (1998).<sup>3</sup> The district court correctly found the same, 9 AA 1369-84, and the record before this court supports the district court's findings, 2 AA 289-94; 7 AA 979-83; 9 AA 1347-48, 1358-59, 1433.

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